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BRENDA LINDLIEF HALL
REYNOLDS, MOTL AND SHERWOOD, PLLP
401 North Last Chance Gulch
Helena, MT 59601
(406) 442-3261 (telephone)
(406) 443-7294 (facsimile)
bllh@rmslaw.net
Attorney for Plaintiffs

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MONTANA
HELENA DIVISION
**********
JENNIFER FINSTAD, MICHELLE )
JONES, MERIDITH
)
Cause No.: CV-09-46-CCL
MCWILLIAMS, LORI ELLIOTT,
)
KELSEY GEORGE and GEORGIA
)
REPLY SUPPORTING
ARNOLD,
)
PLAINTIFFS’
)
MOTION TO COMPEL THE
Plaintiffs,
) DEPOSITION TESTIMONY OF
)
WELLS FARGO & COMPANY
vs.
)
EMPLOYEE QUYEN CHAU
)
AND COMPELLING
WELLS FARGO & COMPANY, and )
DEFENDANTS TO ANSWER
WELLS FARGO BANK, NA,
)
PLAINTIFFS’
)
INTERROGATORY NO. 14
Defendants.
)
**********
INTRODUCTION
COME NOW, Plaintiffs in the above-captioned matter, and respectfully
submit their Reply supporting their Motion to Compel Wells Fargo & Company to
answer the questions it instructed Quyen Chau not to answer and to answer
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Plaintiffs’ Interrogatory No. 14 requesting that Wells Fargo state “with specificity
what public laws, regulations, regulatory noncompliance issues, and/or public
policy violations . . . were implicated by the activity investigated in this case . . . .”
This question is pivotal to Plaintiffs’ case, yet Wells Fargo is throwing up
roadblocks and red herrings at every turn, refusing to answer the question, and now
in briefing informing the Court that the answer to Plaintiffs Interrogatory No. 14
and to the questions posed to Quyen Chau about regulatory noncompliance issues
was only with regard to fidelity bonds, citing 12 C.F.R. § 7.2013. (Def’s Response
Br., p. 5.) Wells Fargo also discusses Suspicious Activity Reports (SARs),
indicating that it cannot answer Plaintiffs’ questions because it is prohibited from
discussing SARs by regulation, even though Wells Fargo raised the issue of SARs,
not Plaintiffs. (See Def’s Response to Pl’s Motion to Compel, pp. 6-7; see also Ex.
A, Chau Aug. 10, 2010 Depo., pp. 69:25 & 70:1-25, attached to Pls’ Memo.
Supporting Motion to Compel.) As discussed in detail in their memorandum
supporting their motion to compel, Wells Fargo is not prohibited from disclosing
information that may have been contained in a SAR. (See Pl’s Memo. Supporting
Motion to Compel, pp. 5-8.) Wells Fargo appears to simply be attempting to throw
Plaintiffs off track and prevent them from uncovering information critical to their
claims.
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ARGUMENT
The Montana Wrongful Discharge From Employment Act provides: (1) A
discharge is wrongful . . . if: (a) it was in retaliation for the employee’s refusal to
violate public policy or for reporting a public policy violation.” § 39-2-904(1)(a),
MCA, Mont. Code Ann. The remedies section of the Wrongful Discharge From
Employment Act provides: “[t]he employee may recover punitive damages
otherwise allowed by law if it is established by clear and convincing evidence that
the employer engaged in actual fraud or actual malice in the discharge of the
employee in violation of § 39-2-904(1)(a), Mont. Code Ann.—that is for reporting
a public policy violation.
Plaintiff Georgia Arnold filed an EthicsLine complaint with Wells Fargo,
questioning the way her manager was asking her and the other employees,
including the other Plaintiffs, to telephone Wells Fargo customers about their debit
cards and how to handle debit cards that they had not activated or used. Arnolds’
EthicsLine complaint sparked an investigation, interrogations, and the termination
of nine (9) women, including Plaintiffs. In trying to determine if Plaintiffs’
termination from employment by Wells Fargo was wrongful as defined in § 39-2904(1)(a), Mont. Code Ann., Plaintiffs have taken the deposition of Wells Fargo’s
senior investigative agent, Quyen Chau, the man who conducted the investigation
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and interrogated Plaintiffs in this case1. Chau has been deposed twice, providing
conflicting testimony in each instance. Mr. Chau initially testified on August 10,
2010 that, yes, there were regulatory noncompliance issues, and when questioned
as to what those specific issues were, Wells Fargo’s attorney instructed him not to
answer and discussed the filing of SARs. (See Pls’ Memorandum Supporting
Motion to Compel (Doc. 43) and Ex. A Chau Depo, pp.69-71 attached thereto.)
Wells Fargo again instructed Mr. Chau not to answer during the continuance of his
deposition on September 9, 2010. (See Chau 9/09/10 depo. pp. 148:23-25, 149:125, and 150:1-22 attached hereto as Exhibit F.)
Wells Fargo also failed to provide a substantive answer to Plaintiffs’
Interrogatory No. 14, which pointedly asked what “public laws, regulations,
regulatory noncompliance issues, and/or public policy violations . . . were
implicated by the activity investigated in this case and the subsequent June 2009
investigation.” Wells Fargo skirted the issue by stating the obvious—that the
documents, which were plainly cited for reference purposes only, did not
specifically reference any public law, regulation, regulatory noncompliance issues.
(See Ex. C attached to Pls’ Memorandum Supporting Motion to Compel (Doc.
43).) Had the documents themselves indicated what laws, regulations, or policies

Wells Fargo employee Scot Washington sat in on the interrogations and helped with the
investigation, but Quyen Chau is the person who actually interrogated Plaintiffs.
1
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were implicated, it would have obviated the need for Plaintiffs’ to ask the question
in Interrogatory No. 14 and during Mr. Chau’s deposition.
Based on the foregoing, and based on Mr. Chau again being instructed not to
answer when his deposition was reconvened on September 9, 2010 (see Ex. F,
Chau 9/09/10 depo. pp. 148:23-25, 149:1-25, and 150:1-22) it appears that there
were indeed public policy violations—very possibly violations of federal or state
laws and/or regulations—for which all six Plaintiffs were terminated after Plaintiff
Georgia Arnold filed her EthicsLine Complaint.
If Plaintiffs were terminated for the reporting of public policy violations,
which based on Mr. Chau’s 8/10/10 deposition testimony appears to be the case,
then Plaintiffs were plainly wrongfully discharged, and Plaintiffs may be entitled
to punitive damages. Yet Wells Fargo has successfully evaded providing a
substantive answer by failing to properly answer Plaintiffs’ Interrogatory No. 14,
and by twice instructing Mr. Chau not to answer. Wells Fargo now attempts to say
that it has answered the question of what regulatory noncompliance issues were
uncovered in the investigation into Georgia Arnolds’ EthicsLine Complaint by
citing to 12 C.F.R. § 7.2013:
12 C.F.R. § 7.2013 Fidelity bonds covering officers and employees.
(a) Adequate coverage. All officers and employees of a national bank
must have adequate fidelity coverage. The failure of directors to
require bonds with adequate sureties and in sufficient amount may
make the directors liable for any losses that the bank sustains because
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of the absence of such bonds. Directors should not serve as sureties
on such bonds.
It is difficult to fathom how this was an issue involved in Georgia Arnolds’
EthicsLine Complaint and the ensuing investigation. (See EthicsLine Complaint
attached hereto as Exhibit I.) Citation to this regulation appears to be a mere
distraction. The issues in this case focused on Wells Fargo’s manager of the
Helena East Branch giving employees lists and having them contact customers
about their debit cards, and proper consent and identification from customers when
they were issued debit cards. (See Exhibit I; see also Exhibit G, Chau 8/10/10,
Depo. pp. 68-69 stating, “It’s a matter of getting customer consent. We cannot send
out products to customers without talking to them, that’s the issue here.)
Wells Fargo first instructed Mr. Chau not to answer deposition questions
during his deposition taken August 10, 2010. Plaintiffs’ counsel asked Mr. Chau
“were you aware of any regulatory noncompliance issues involved in this
investigation?” Mr. Chau clearly answered “Yes.” Plaintiffs’ counsel did not ask
about Suspicious Activity Reports (SARs). (See Exhibit A, Chau Depo., pp. 69:25,
70:1-20, attached to Memorandum Supporting Pls’ Motion to Compel, Doc. 43.)
Wells Fargo raised the issue of SARs, not Plaintiffs. It is a mystery why Mr. Chau
and Wells Fargo’s counsel would even raise the issue of SARs when Plaintiffs’
counsel did not ask about SARs and did not even know about SARs until Mr. Chau
and Wells Fargo’s counsel raised the issue in Mr. Chau’s August 10, 2010
6

Case 6:09-cv-00046-CCL Document 61 Filed 09/17/10 Page 7 of 13

deposition. See id. Wells Fargo could have simply said there were violations of
law, stated what the violations were, and not even mentioned SARs. Nonetheless,
Wells Fargo stated that the issues were related to SARs, and then Mr. Chau clearly
testified that “yes,” he was aware of regulatory noncompliance issues.
During the continuance of Mr. Chau’s deposition, however, Mr. Chau
changed his testimony, stating he was not aware of any regulatory noncompliance
issues, but he brought up the issue of SARs again. When asked if he was aware of
any regulatory noncompliance issues involved in this investigation, Mr. Chau
testified “It has to do with the SAR reporting . . . (Ex. F, Chau Depo., p. 150:1-6.)
It was Wells Fargo, not Plaintiffs, who first raised the issue of SARs during the
August 10, 2010 Chau deposition, and Wells Fargo’s senior investigative agent
who again raised the issue during the continuance of his deposition on September
9, 2010. But the SAR issue aside, we now have conflicting testimony from Mr.
Chau.
And more importantly, Wells Fargo did not properly answer, nor has it
properly supplemented its Answer, to Plaintiffs’ Interrogatory No. 14. Based on
the two depositions of Mr. Chau wherein Wells Fargo’s counsel instructed Mr.
Chau not to answer questions, Plaintiffs do not think they will get anywhere taking
Mr. Chau’s deposition again. Wells Fargo’s legal counsel has twice instructed Mr.
Chau not to answer questions, and was frustrating the continuance of Mr. Chau’s
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deposition taken on September 9, 2010, instructing Mr. Chau again not to testify,
and when Plaintiffs’ counsel introduced the text of the Electronic Funds Transfer
Act (Act) and its implementing regulations as a deposition exhibit and attempted to
question Mr. Chau about the Act and its implementing regulations, Wells Fargo’s
counsel asked: “Do you want him to read this entire document right now?”
Plaintiffs’ counsel responded “No, I’m going—,” and before she could continue
Wells Fargo’s counsel interrupted saying:
“Let me tell you. He has not read this document; he has not gone
through Regulation E; he has not discussed with anybody. His
knowledge it is pretty much what you’ve already asked him. I’m
going to object to every question to the extent that it requires a legal
conclusion, but I’m not going to have him—[.]”
(Ex. F, p. 154:15.) At that, point, wholly exasperated with Wells Fargo’s counsel
frustrating the taking of Mr. Chau’s deposition, and with the now conflicting
testimony, Plaintiffs’ counsel said “Okay. We’re done. This deposition is
concluded. Thank you.” (Ex. F, p. 154:8-23.) By that time, it was clear that Wells
Fargo’s counsel was not going to be cooperative, and that Plaintiffs’ counsel was
running into a wall with regard to taking Mr. Chau’s deposition. Plaintiffs have
already expended extensive resources attempting to get to the bottom of the
regulatory noncompliance issues that are implicated in this case. Incurring any
further expense by continuing with a deposition that was being frustrated and
interrupted at every turn was untenable. As the Court can see from the excerpts of
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Mr. Chau’s September 9, 2010 deposition, Wells Fargo’s counsel testified and
spoke more than Mr. Chau. (See generally Ex. F.) Wells Fargo’s counsel again
instructed Mr. Chau not to testify: “Quyen, just so we’re clear, you are not to speak
specifically to any SAR issues in this case or any other specific case of Wells
Fargo . . .” (See Wells Fargo’s Response Br. at 3.) Wells Fargo’s counsel also
clearly interrupted and impeded the deposition. (Ex. F, pp. 143-144, 148, 150-54.)
But Wells Fargo itself raised the issue of SARS, and more importantly, 31
U.S.C. § 5318(g) does not prohibit Wells Fargo from disclosing information
contained in SARs. It only prohibits Wells Fargo from disclosing that SARs
themselves have been filed, and the prohibition only applies in certain
circumstances. 31 U.S.C. § 5318(g). Plaintiffs thoroughly discussed this issue in
their Memorandum supporting their Motion to Compel, at pp. 5-8. Wells Fargo
appears to be purposefully obstructing Plaintiffs from obtaining information by
relying on SAR regulations as a basis for instructing Mr. Chau not to answer, when
there is not legal authority prohibiting Mr. Chau from testifying. He did not need
to say that there were SARs filed. He only needed to state what regulatory
noncompliance issues were revealed during the investigation of Plaintiffs that
arose from Georgia Arnold filing an EthicsLine Complaint.
Tellingly, however, Mr. Chau testified in his August 10, 2010 deposition
and during the continuance of his deposition on September 9, that customer
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consent was the primary concern in this case. When Mr. Chau was asked, “So this
wasn’t a matter of getting sales credit,” he stated: “It’s a matter of getting
customer consent. We cannot send out products to customers without talking
to them, that’s the issue here.” (See 8/10/10 Chau Depo. p. 69:8-12, attached as
Ex. A to Pls’ Memo. Supporting Motion to Compel Chau Testimony and Answer
to Interrog. No. 14 (emphasis added).) The Electronic Funds Transfer Act, and
regulation 12 C.F.R. § 205.5 controls when and how banks may issue “access
devices” such as debit cards. Debit cards are defined as “access devices” under 12
C.F.R. § 205.2(a)(1). 12 C.F.R. § 205.5 provides:
(a) Solicited issuance. Except as provided in paragraph (b) of this
section, a financial institution may issue an access device to a
consumer only:
(1) In response to an oral or written request for the device; or
(2) As a renewal of, or in substitution for, an accepted access devise
whether issued by the institution or a successor.
(b) Unsolicited issuance. A financial institution may distribute an
access device to a consumer on an unsolicited basis if the access
devise is:
(1) Not validated, meaning that the institution has not yet performed
all the procedures that would enable a consumer to initiate an
electronic fund transfer using the access devise;
(2) Accompanied by a clear explanation that the access device is not
validated and how the consumer may dispose of it if validation is not
desired;
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(3) Accompanied by the disclosure required by §205.7, of the
consumer’s rights and liabilities that will apply if the access devise is
validated; and
(4) Validated only in response to the consumer’s oral or written
request for validation, after the institution has verified the consumer’s
identity by a reasonable means.
12 C.F.R. § 205.5. In this case, Plaintiffs’ manager was printing out lists and
giving them to Plaintiffs and making them place telephone calls to the customers
telling them they would send them new debit cards when the customer had not
activated or used the originally issued debit card. Clearly, the issue that Plaintiff
Georgia Arnold complained of in her EthicsLine complaint was that her supervisor
was making them call and issue unsolicited access devices that had already been
validated by Wells Fargo, that were not accompanied by the disclosures required in
§ 205.7, and that were not “validated only in response to the consumer’s oral or
written request for validation, after the institution has verified the consumer’s
identity.” 12 C.F.R. § 205.5.
On September 9, when Plaintiffs’ counsel attempted to elicit more specific
information about this case, about the consent issue raised by Mr. Chau on August
10, 2010 and specifically implication of the Electronic Funds Transfer Act and its
implementing regulations, Wells Fargo’s counsel made it clear that he would
object and would not even let Plaintiffs’ counsel ask the questions without
interrupting. (See Exhibit F, Chau Depo. pp 152:13-15, 153:1-25, 154:1-25, 155:1-
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25, 156:1-7.) Wells Fargo’s counsel clearly instructed Mr. Chau not to testify,
impeded the intended line of question regarding the Electronic Funds Transfer Act,
and Plaintiffs’ counsel therefore ended the deposition.
Plaintiffs do not wish to incur any further expense or expend addition time in
again trying to elicit testimony from Mr. Chau. But Wells Fargo has not been
forthcoming, has not answered Plaintiffs’ Interrogatory No. 14, and there are
pivotal questions in this case that Wells Fargo is refusing to answer. Plaintiffs
deserve to have Interrogatory No. 14 properly answered in a forthright manner.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that Wells Fargo be
compelled to answer Plaintiffs’ Interrogatory No. 14 and specifically state what
public laws, regulations, regulatory noncompliance issues, and/or public policy
violations were implicated by the activity investigated in this case and the
subsequent June 2009 investigation.
RESPECTFULLY submitted this 17th day of September, 2010.
BY: /s/ Brenda Lindlief Hall
Brenda Lindlief Hall
REYNOLDS, MOTL AND SHERWOOD, P.L.L.P.
Attorney for Plaintiffs
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE
Counsel for Plaintiffs hereby certifies that the foregoing Reply
Memorandum Supporting Plaintiffs’ Motion To Compel complies with
L.R.7.1(d)(2)(A). The Memorandum, excluding the caption and Certificate of
Service is 2,603 words.
BY: /s/ Brenda Lindlief Hall
Brenda Lindlief Hall
REYNOLDS, MOTL AND SHERWOOD, P.L.L.P.
Attorney for Plaintiffs
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